Cabinet

Meeting held on Monday, 10 June 2019 at 6.30 pm in Council Chamber, Town Hall, Katharine Street, Croydon CR0 1NX

MINUTES

Present: Councillor Tony Newman (Chair);

Councillor Alison Butler, Stuart Collins, Hamida Ali, Jane Avis, Alisa Flemming, Simon Hall, Stuart King (voting – Job Share), Oliver Lewis, Paul Scott (non-voting – Job Share) and Manju Shahul-Hameed

- Also Present: Councillor Tim Pollard, Jason Cummings, Jason Perry, Mario Creatura, Maria Gatland, Lynne Hale, Simon Hoar, Yvette Hopley, Helen Pollard, Sean Fitzsimons, Robert Ward, Clive Fraser, Leila Ben-Hassel, Janet Campbell, Sherwan Chowdhury, Patsy Cummings, Nina Degrads, Patricia Hay-Justice, Bernadette Khan, Joy Prince, Andy Stranack, David Wood and Louisa Woodley
- Apologies: Councillor Shafi Khan

PART A

44/19 Minutes of the previous meeting

The part A minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 7 May 2019 were agreed. The Leader of the Council signed the minutes as an accurate record.

45/19 **Disclosure of Interests**

There were none.

46/19 Urgent Business (If any)

There were no items of urgent business.

47/19 The Public Health Approach to Addressing Violence in Croydon

The Cabinet Member for Safer Croydon & Communities gave a presentation on the public health approach to addressing violence in Croydon, an approach which recognised that violence was a complex issue and sought to address the root causes through a whole system approach.

The Vulnerable Adolescent Review which was commissioned by the Children Safeguarding Board had been important in Croydon and the key findings of the report helped shape some of the report.

Members were informed that youth violence in Croydon had seen an ongoing reduction of 11% which outperformed the London average. Additionally, substantial reductions in serious youth violence had been experienced and a reduction of 17% of knife crime had also been seen. While the reduction in crime was encouraging, and over the past five years it was the first time Croydon had dropped below the London average, it was recognised that more needed to be done to reduce crime further and for there to be a sustained reduction.

To realise a sustained reduction in crime the ambition was to treat the source of the issue by looking at the root causes and not just addressing the violence itself. In response to the Vulnerable Adolescent Review and the Director of Public Health's annual report on the first 1,000 days of a person's life, the council had recognised that trauma in early life could have a lasting impact on a person's life. As such, a cultural shift was required to design solutions which addressed issues at an early age and young people did not fall off the radar of partnership organisations. To support the embedding of the cultural shift it was recognised that there was need to ensure impact of trauma was understood by all and interventions were targeted.

The priorities of the public health approach were outlined to Members as building an understanding across all organisations regarding the impact of trauma, ensuring hard to reach communities were being approached, supporting young people in the wider community and family, recognising culture, and ensuring a truly collaborative approach among all involved in tackling the issue.

The Cabinet Member informed Members that work was ongoing to ensure the Croydon approach was in line with the approach being developed by the London Violence Reduction Unit to ensure consistency. Whilst the Croydon Unit would not provide a frontline response, it was intended to seek to influence a range of disciplines both in the council and outside organisations to work together to deliver a public health approach to tackling violence.

Lib Peck, Director of the Violence Reduction Unit at MOPAC, informed Members that the London Violence Reduction Unit had been launched by the Mayor in 2018 and there were representatives from across the board working on delivering the initiative.

The Director of the VRU stated that she felt there was great ambition in Croydon to deliver this approach. By adopting the public health approach it was noted that violence was being looked in its context, and by looking at a child's journey you were moving away from the view that violence is inevitable. By using evidence, such as the review of the Vulnerable Adolescents, the Director stated that you can drive change through a partnership ethos.

The Cabinet Member noted that the work to achieve a reduction in violence covered a number of Cabinet Member portfolios to ensure children and young people had the best start in life, and encouraged discussions with Members to ensure there was a collaborative approach.

In response to Member questions the Cabinet Member stated that the Policy Framework gave clear actions on the delivery of the ambition, and built upon the earlier reports which had gone to Cabinet in January 2019 and November 2018. It was recognised that it was important for the council to set the director on how to tackle violence through a multi-agency approach.

The Cabinet Member recognised that it was good practice to highlight possible risks, however it was felt that there had been good engagement across the board; including Headteachers and the BME forum, and that there had been buy-in by all involved.

Members were informed that the Safer Croydon Board had discussed the data involved and the Cabinet Member stated that there would be investments to ensure that the Unit had all the data to paint an accurate picture of the situation. The governance of the public health approach had also been approached and as the Unit would be a council body it would have all the necessary governance and oversight. Whilst it was noted that the successful delivery of the approach went across several Cabinet Member portfolios there was support from across the Cabinet to deliver this approach, and from partner organisations also.

In response to Member questions the Cabinet Member stated that there were clear funding streams available and that it was ambition of the council to seek the available funding. However, the Unit would look across the whole system and seek to make changes which can effect change, such as early help. Additionally, it was noted that work would proceed to scale up work already been undertaken such as the Public Health had committed to fund some of the training around the impact of trauma.

The Cabinet Member stated that it was important to learn from reviews to ensure that the damage to people's lives did not happen anymore. By understanding violence in a broad sense it was recognised that it would be important that connections were not lost and so the Unit would be working with organisations to ensure the connections are made.

It was recognised by Members that the issue of violence was not just a Croydon matter, and that it would be important to work collaboratively with other boroughs and share lessons learnt nationally. In response the Cabinet Member confirmed that she had been building relationships with counterparts in other boroughs and was sharing lessons learnt with the Community Safety Network.

In response to Members, the Cabinet Member agreed that job opportunities were important and the council and partners, continued to work with industries to challenge perceptions and create greater opportunities for young people, especially those which had been involved in violence.

The Cabinet Member for Children, Young People & Learning highlighted how the model would enable the council to support families and individuals who had been through trauma, and welcomed the schools appetite to implement the plans to move to an early intervention model to support people. By working towards a collaborative approach; the Police, schools and community organisations were working to develop sessions which will assist in keeping young people which had been involved in violence in schools. Furthermore, it was noted that by supporting families to be more resilient there was a real opportunity to empower families at a very early age and ensure trauma does not take place.

The Director of the London Violence Reduction Unit noted that a large cultural shift from the view that violence was inevitable was required to ensure the successful delivery of the aims of the approach. Members were informed that the London Unit was also looking at similar issues of housing, education, employment and early intervention and would spread good practice and data to support local councils as it was recognised that it was important that there was a pan-London approach to ensure success of delivery. In relation to the Member query on resources and funding, the Director stated that the London Unit had some resources and was seeking to attract more; however she was keen that the resources be used to empower local communities.

The Director wished Croydon well in the delivery of the public health approach to addressing violence, and was thanked for her attendance and contributions of the Leader of the Council.

The Leader of the Council delegated authority to the Cabinet to make the following decisions.

RESOLVED: To

- 1. Adopt the Framework for The Public Health Approach to Violence Reduction in Croydon ("The Framework"), at Appendix 1 of the report;
- 2. Agree the themes and key priorities set out in the report and the above referenced Framework; and
- 3. Delegate to the Executive Director Place, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Safer Croydon and Communities, authority to develop and agree a comprehensive Delivery Plan in accordance with Appendix 1 of the report through engagement with the existing

structures of the Local Strategic Partnership and keep the Delivery Plan under review to ensure ownership of the Public Health Approach to Violence Reduction is embedded across a wider range of organisations, maximising the skills and knowledge of the strategic partnerships.

48/19 Croydon's Approach to Apprenticeships

The Cabinet Member for Economy & Jobs gave Members an overview of apprenticeships, noting that the scheme gave people 16 years and over practical experience and was not just for young people starting in employment, but also could assist people in changing careers. The Cabinet Member informed Members that in Croydon only 20% of apprentices had been aged 16 to 18.

Bernadette Aze and Nafiza Chowdhury, apprentices at Croydon Council, spoke of their experience of apprenticeships and noted that often young people were encouraged at college to follow the traditional path of attending university. It was recognised by the guests that the university route was not always the best option and that young people should be informed of alternative career paths, such as apprenticeships.

Nafiza and Bernadette spoke of their experience of being supported by Croydon Works to prepare for their interviews and receiving feedback which gave them the confidence to apply for apprenticeships. They felt that undertaking apprenticeships had been fantastic experiences for them as it had given them practical experience to support them in their careers, and they requested the support of the council to spread awareness of the apprenticeship scheme to support other young people.

Members thanked Nafiza and Bernadette for their contribution and for being inspirational to other young people in talking about the opportunities apprenticeships provided.

The Cabinet Member noted that the Apprenticeship Levy could be used to support Small and Medium sized Enterprises (SMEs) to have apprentices in their organisations. As such, the council would contact all business rate payers of the opportunity and the Cabinet Member asked that councillors also speak to local businesses.

Within Croydon Council, Members were informed that almost 50 apprentices were employed, supported and had mentors. These apprentices represented the local community with a number from BME background, all ages, and 15% with declared special needs or disabilities. Due to the success of the council's scheme the authority had been awarded two awards for its support and dedication to diversity, and members were given two case studies of apprentices who were being supported by the council; Anna Smith and Alexander Gayle.

Members were informed that the next apprenticeship launch event would be taking place on 21 August 2019 at BoxPark and would be hosted by the Deputy Mayor who would speak about her experiences. Members were requested to share information about this event to all relevant parties. To further develop apprentices in Croydon, the Croydon Apprenticeship Academy had been formed which was made up of employers and council officers. The Academy was already speaking to businesses, and many companies in Croydon had already pledged to be part of the scheme.

Members noted that the decision to pay apprentices the London Living Wage which enabled people of all ages to fully experience all the opportunities an apprenticeship offers. It was recognised that apprenticeships were changing the life journeys of many young people positively and the scheme was supported.

It was noted by some Members that it was recommended that 2.3% of an organisations' workforce should be apprentices which would equate to a shortfall of 100 apprentices. In response the Cabinet Member stated that the '100 Apprentices in 100 Days' initiative sought to increase the number of apprenticeships in London, and that the council was seeking to engage with local employers to support more apprenticeships. This engagement work had been successful and had seen many companies already pledge positions ahead of the launch in August 2019.

In response to Member questions the Cabinet Member stated that the Apprenticeship Levy was complicated for some organisations, and as such the council was seeking to use unused money to fund training. Additionally to support SMEs, the council would pay 100% of training costs to further enable apprenticeships across all sectors. The council recognised that it was important to make best use of the apprenticeship levy.

It was noted by Members that paying the London Living Wage made a real difference to apprentices, especially in relation to the cost of living, and enabled people to change careers if they wanted to. By supporting apprentices the council was supporting young people to take the pathway to employment which suited them best, and enabling them to choose their future. However, it was recognised that further work on improving parental buy-in and school support was required to make apprenticeships a more viable opportunity for many.

Members wished the apprentices all the best for their futures and thanked officers for all their work in making apprenticeships in Croydon a success.

The Leader informed Members and guests that the video clip which was part of the Cabinet Members presentation would be made available online to further promote the benefits of apprenticeships. The Leader of the Council delegated authority to the Cabinet to make the following decisions.

RESOLVED: To

- 1. Endorse the activity being undertaken to promote and increase the number of apprentices in Croydon; in particular the 2019 100 Apprentices in 100 Days campaign; and
- 2. Note changes to apprenticeship rates of pay to bring it into line with London Living Wage.

49/19 Brick by Brick Croydon Limited Pipeline Sites

The Leader of the Council stated that it was important to remember that housing was a basic human right and that over 100 young people in the borough were sleeping in temporary accommodation every night.

The Cabinet Member for Homes & Gateway Services stated the council was looking to deliver homes of all tenures across the borough, and provided Members with an overview of the housing which was being delivered by Brick by Brick across the borough. It was noted that residents had been supportive of schemes in various parts of the borough and that the developments were also enabling further improvements to the local areas, such as new libraries, community facilities and improvement work to local council buildings to ensure they were fit for the future.

Members were informed that the report looked at how Brick by Brick could be taken further with new sites identified, with a specific emphasis on providing housing for care leavers and older generations who sought to downsize. However, it was noted that Brick by Brick was not the only option being utilised by the council to deliver housing in the borough as community led housing had been launched, and the council had brought unused properties back into use also.

It was noted that many of the proposed sites listed in the report were very small and under government legislation would not be required to deliver any affordable housing. The Cabinet Member, however, stated that by Brick by Brick developing the sites it was possible to ensure significant affordable housing was to be delivered.

The Cabinet Member further stated that no detailed plans had been drawn up for the sites listed, and it was important to note that Brick by Brick would work with and consult the local communities ahead of seeking planning permission.

The Cabinet Member for Finance & Resources informed Members that all the benefits from the developing the sites would remain with the council. Best value from the land was being sought when the land was sold to Brick by Brick; however the Cabinet Member further noted that capital receipts would be received from Brick by Brick also.

In response to Member questions the Cabinet Member for Homes & Gateway Services confirmed that consultation with residents would take place ahead of planning permission being sought, and that the transfer of land was subject to planning permission being granted.

It was recognised that a proposed site listed in the report included green space on the Monks Hill estate, and following some Members suggestions that the green space was highly valued by residents and that there was an alternative site for development at the edge of the estate, the Cabinet Member confirmed she would be happy to speak to local residents regarding alternative options.

The Cabinet Member for Finance & Resources, in response to Members questions, confirmed that best consideration was being fulfilled and that auditors had reviewed the previous transfer of land and a report would be produced which outlined that the council had fulfilled all of its legal duties in the transfer of the land. Members were reminded that 1,800 critically needed homes were being generated which was vital to the residents of Croydon.

Members noted that there had been a number of barriers to building affordable and social housing in the country, and that residents in South Norwood were grateful for the development of a new library and homes. Whilst it was recognised that some green space would be lost due to the development of new homes, many Members felt that the need for housing outweighed the benefits of green spaces as it was noted that the impact of living in temporary accommodation on young people was profound and long lasting.

Cabinet Members further discussed that the Local Plan planned for 33,000 new homes in the borough, however under the Housing Needs Assessment the figure would rise significantly. As such, it was necessary to support the delivery of homes in the borough especially affordable homes as it was recognised that housing prices were at a level where many young people on good incomes could not afford to buy homes.

Cabinet Members stated that they were proud that homes were being delivered for local residents, and work was being undertaken to ensure young people were not having to be in temporary accommodation which affected their development.

Whilst it was noted that there was a plan to raise the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) borrowing cap, Brick by Brick was created when the borrowing cap was in place, however it was noted that the HRA would be used to support the delivery of units. The Cabinet Member stated that the Administration was proud to be delivering council homes, shared ownership homes, and private properties to deliver for all residents in Croydon.

The Leader of the Council delegated authority to the Cabinet to make the following decisions.

RESOLVED: To

- 1. Approve the pipeline sites listed in Appendix A of the report to be disposed of to Brick by Brick Croydon Ltd (BBB) subject to terms and conditions being agreed to the satisfaction of the Executive Director (Resources) and the Director of Finance and s151 Officer acting in consultation with the Cabinet Members for Homes and Gateway Services and Finance and Resources and the scope of this delegation includes the decision as to whether the disposal of land is by freehold or by way of a long lease in line with the indicative terms set out in sections 3.5 to 3.7 of the report;
- 2. Approve that the Council lend Brick by Brick Croydon Ltd funding to progress the development of the sites and that such funding will include funding for professional services, construction costs, acquisition of third party sites and working capital and that the Executive Director (Resources) and the Director of Finance and s151 Officer be given delegated authority to finalise and agree the terms of such lending acting in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources;
- 3. Approve that where it is considered necessary by Officers and subject to consideration of any objections received by third parties, that the sites listed in Appendix A of the report will be appropriated for planning purposes pursuant to the Council's powers under s122 of the Local Government Act 1972 and/or s233 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 or such other statutory powers as may be relevant and that the Executive Director (Resources) be given delegated authority to finalise and agree the terms of such appropriation acting in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources; and
- 4. Note the governance and monitoring process set out in the report.

50/19 Delivering for residents through Sustainable and Ethical Commissioning

The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources paid tribute to the work of the Director of Commissioning and Procurement and her team for their work on developing a Commissioning Strategy and Social Values Framework.

It was noted by the Cabinet Member that when Labour became the Administration that the rating for contracts had been 60% price and 40%

quality; however there had been a change to focus on quality with a weighting of 60% as it was recognised that it was important to deliver quality contracts for residents. Additionally it was noted that the social value of contracts was important for delivering for residents, and as such a 10% weighting in relation to social value was part of the quality score when assessing tenders.

The council was proud of the ethical approach which has been adopted; including the charters which the council had signed up to and had been put at the heart of procurement.

The Cabinet Member stated that the council was committed to transparency, and noted the strengthened Value Croydon website which sought to assist Small and Medium sized Enterprises (SMEs) in the borough to see the contracts the council was letting. Additionally, it was noted, that the council was increasingly holding suppliers to account which was ensuring the delivery of the best service for residents.

Members noted the different ways a new approach to commissioning had delivered improved results; such as a number of the Ground Maintenance team had previously been paid the minimum wage and when they had transferred as part of insourcing had started to be paid the London Living Wage. This had led to staff feeling valued and an improved service. Additionally, Members noted the social value of the New Addington Leisure and Community Centre had been phenomenal with local residents being trained through apprenticeships which would have a long term impact on the local community.

The Cabinet Member concluded his presentation by stating that the documents for approval were the bedrock for delivering services and ensuring services were being delivered in the right way to ensure the best outcomes for residents.

In response to Member questions the Cabinet Member informed Members that monitoring would take place which would show how successful the approach had been to support local SMEs in being awarded contracts. Additionally, it was noted that the new system, My Resources, would further allow geographical tracking to enable the council to monitor the delivery of contracts and ensure that contracts were remaining local, which was defined as being within the borough.

The Cabinet Member stated that it was not possible to speak in detail in relation to a letter received from Croydon Accessible Transport as it was subject to a formal response from the Chief Executive and Procurement; however confirmed that the allegation had been fully investigated and due process had been followed. Members were informed that the Cabinet Member for Finance & Resources and the Cabinet Member for Safer Croydon & Communities would be meeting with Croydon Accessible Transport to discuss their future plans and establish if assistance can be

provided to the organisation as it was recognised that there were impacts on organisations which no longer had council contracts.

The Leader of the Council delegated authority to the Cabinet to make the following decisions.

RESOLVED: To

- 1. Approve and adopt the refreshed Commissioning Framework 2019-2023 (as set out at Appendix 1 of the report);
- 2. Approve and adopt the Council's Social Value Policy 2019-2023 (as set out at Appendix 2 of the report);
- 3. Recommend the adoption of the revised Tenders and Contracts Regulations, part 4 of the Constitution (as set out at Appendix 3 of the report) to Full Council; and
- 4. Delegate to the Director of Commissioning and Procurement, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources, authority to make minor amendments to the documents presented to Full Council and any consequential amendments as necessary and to ensure publication of any amendments.

51/19 Stage 1: Recommendations arising from Scrutiny

The Leader of the Council delegated authority to the Cabinet to make the following decisions.

RESOLVED: To receive the recommendations arising from the Scrutiny & Overview Committee (30 April 2019) and to provide a substantive response within two months (i.e. at the next available Cabinet meeting on 8 July 2019).

52/19 Stage 2 : Response to Recommendations arising from Scrutiny & Overview Committee on 15 January 2019; Streets, Environment & Homes Scrutiny Sub-Committee on 22 January 2019; Scrutiny & Overview Committee on 11 February 2019; Streets, Environment & Homes Scrutiny Sub-Committee on 19 February 2019 and Scrutiny & Overview Committee on 5 March 2019

The Leader of the Council delegated authority to the Cabinet to make the following decisions.

RESOLVED: To approve the response and action plans attached at Appendix A of the report and that these be reported to the Scrutiny and Overview Committee or relevant Sub-Committees.

53/19 Investing in our Borough

The Leader of the Council delegated authority to the Cabinet to make the following decisions.

RESOLVED: To

- 1. Approve the recommendation for the appointment of the Approved Provider Panel for Children's Social Care Assessments in accordance with the recommendation set out in the report at agenda item 11a;
- 2. Recommend to the Leader of the Council that prior to the next meeting of Cabinet in July, the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources in consultation with the Leader, be authorised to agree the award in respect of the contract for the Microsoft Enterprise Software Agreement which was included in the Good to Great ICT Transformation strategy approved by Cabinet on 20th November 2017 (reference: 91/17 Investing in our Borough c. ICT sourcing strategy) for the reasons set out in para 4.3.1 of the report; and
- 3. Note that any award made under this delegation will be notified in the standard contracts report to the next meeting of Cabinet.

RESOLVED: To note

- 1. The contracts over £500,000 anticipated to be awarded by the nominated Cabinet Member, in consultation with the nominated Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources or, where the nominated Cabinet Member is the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources, in consultation with the Leader; and
- The list of delegated award decisions made by the Director of Commissioning and Procurement, between 12/04/2019 – 11/05/2019.

a Award of Approved Provider Panel for Children's Social Care Assessments

The Leader of the Council delegated authority to the Cabinet to make the following decisions.

RESOLVED: To

 Approve the award of an Approved Provider Panel for the delivery of Children's Social Care Assessments, in accordance with Regulation 27(c) of the Council's Contracts and Tenders Regulations and the appointment of 13 providers across the 10 Lots as detailed in the Part B report on this agenda, for a term of two years with an option to extend for a further two years for a maximum contract value of £10,049,000; and 2. Note that the names of the successful providers in Part B of this report will be released once the appointments to the Approved Provider Panel decision has been agreed.

54/19 Exclusion of the Press and Public

The following motion was moved by Councillor Newman and seconded by Councillor Butler to exclude the press and public:

"That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information falling within those paragraphs indicated in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended."

The motion was put and it was agreed by the Committee to exclude the press and public for the remainder of the meeting.

55/19 Award of Approved Provider Panel for Children Social Care Assessments

The Leader of the Council delegated authority to the Cabinet to make the following decisions.

RESOLVED: To

- 1. Award of an Approved Provider Panel for the delivery of Children's Social Care Assessments, in accordance with Regulation 27(c)/29 of the Council's Contracts and Tenders Regulations and the appointment of the providers across the 10 Lots as detailed in the Part B report, for a term of two years with an option to extend for a further two years for a maximum contract value of £10,049,000; and
- 2. Note that the names of the successful providers will be released once the appointments to the Approved Provider Panel have been agreed.

The meeting ended at 9.16 pm